
County Offices
Newland

Lincoln
LN1 1YL

28 October 2016

Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-Committee

A meeting of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-
Committee will be held on Monday, 7 November 2016 at 11.00 am (or at the rising 
of the Planning and Regulation Committee, whichever is later) in Council 
Chamber, County Offices, Newland, Lincoln LN1 1YL for the transaction of the 
business set out on the attached Agenda. 

Yours sincerely

Tony McArdle
Chief Executive

Membership of the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-
Committee 
(7 Members of the Council)

Councillors D C Hoyes MBE (Chairman), D Brailsford, G J Ellis, D McNally, 
Mrs H N J Powell, W S Webb and 1 Conservative Vacancy

Public Document Pack





DEFINITIVE MAP AND STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY SUB-
COMMITTEE AGENDA

MONDAY, 7 NOVEMBER 2016

Item Title Pages 

1 Apologies for Absence/Replacement Members 

2 Declarations of Members' Interests 

3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Definitive Map and 
Statement of Pubiic Rights of Way Sub Committee held on 4 
July 2016 

5 - 6

4 Appeal against the prioritisation of Definitive Map 
Modification Order No. 378 – Ludborough – Claimed footpath 
along track running to and from Public Footpath 107 

7 - 24

Democratic Services Officer Contact Details 

Name: Steve Blagg

Direct Dial 01522 553788

E Mail Address steve.blagg@lincolnshire.gov.uk

Please note:  for more information about any of the following please contact 
the Democratic Services Officer responsible for servicing this meeting

 Business of the meeting
 Any special arrangements
 Copies of reports

Contact details set out above.

All papers for council meetings are available on: 
www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords

http://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/committeerecords


This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
 

 

 

 

 
Councillors D Brailsford, G J Ellis, D McNally, Mrs H N J Powell and W S Webb 
 
Officers in attendance:- 
 
Steve Blagg (Democratic Services Officer), Sean Kent (Group Manager, Environment 
Services) and Chris Miller (Environmental Services Team Leader (Countryside 
Services)) 
 
10     APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/REPLACEMENT MEMBERS 

 
None received. 
 
11     DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS 

 
None at this point of the meeting. 
 
12     MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING OF THE DEFINITIVE MAP AND 

STATEMENT OF PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY HELD ON 9 MAY 2016 
 

RESOLVED 
 
That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Definitive Map and Statement of 
Public Rights of Way Sub Committee held on 9 May 2016, be agreed as a correct 
record and signed by the Chairman. 
 
13     NORTH ORMSBY REPORT 

 
The Sub-Committee received a report in connection with an appeal against the 
prioritisation of DMMO 379 (North Ormsby), claimed footpath between north end of 
Public Footpath 357 and metalled highway in the centre of North Ormsby. 
 
RESOLVED (unanimous) 
 

Application 
 

Current Priority 
 

Decision 
 

Reason for 
Decision 

 

 
Appeal against 
the prioritisation 

 
No. 151 

 
Move to No.19 

 
Meets exception 
criteria No.1 and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 

of DMMO No. 
379 – claimed 

footpath between 
north end of 

Public Footpath 
357 and metalled 

highway in the 
centre of North 

Ormsby 
 

No. 8 as detailed 
in Highways and 
Traffic Note HAT 

33/3/11 

 
 
The meeting closed at 1.05 pm 

Page 6



   
 
 

Open Report on behalf of Richard Wills - Executive Director –Economy & 
Environment 

 

Report to: 
Definitive Map & Statement of Public Rights of Way Sub-
Committee 

Date: 7 November 2016 

Subject: 
Appeal against the prioritisation of DMMO 378 – Ludborough 
– Claimed footpath along track running to and from PF 107 

Decision 
Reference: 

  Key 
decision? 

No   

Summary:  

An appeal against the prioritisation of DMMO 378 – Ludborough – Claimed 
footpath along track running to and from PF 107 
 

 

Recommendation(s): 

That consideration is given to the appeal to upgrade the priority of the 
modification order cases. 
 

 
1. Background 
 

As Surveying Authority the County Council has a statutory duty to keep under 
continuous review the Definitive Rights of Way Map and Statement for Lincolnshire 
and to make orders to take account of events requiring the map to be modified. 
This is carried out by the processing of Definitive Map Modification Orders 
(DMMOs) which are either applied for by the public or initiated by the Authority on 
the discovery of evidence. 
 
Highways & Traffic Guidance Note HAT33/3/11 sets out that such cases will be 
dealt with in order of receipt/initiation unless one or more of the eight “exception 
criteria” apply. 
 
The criteria are as follows: 
 

1. Where there is sustained aggression, hostility and ill feeling within a 
community that is causing severe disruption to the life of that 
community, and that in processing the case early there is a strong 
likelihood that this will reduce. 

 
2. Where there is a significant threat to the route, likely to cause a 

permanent obstruction (e.g. a building, but not, for example, a locked 
gate or residential fencing). 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 4



3. Where there is, or has been, a finding of maladministration by the 
Local Government Ombudsman on a particular case and that in 
processing the case the County Council will discharge its duty to the 
Ombudsman’s decision. 

 
4. Where legal proceedings against the County Council are instigated or 

are likely to be instigated and it is possible that the Authority has a 
liability. 

 
5. Where there is a risk to children on County Council owned property 

and land or where the claimed route would provide for a safer 
alternative route to a school, play area or other amenity for children. 

 
6. Where there is a significant financial saving to the County Council (and 

therefore taxpayers) through the processing of an Order. 
 
7. Where a new application is received that relies on evidence of a case 

already received or, if the new application forms part of or is adjoining 
to an existing claim, the new claim will be dealt with at the same time 
as the older application. 

 
8. Where the route will significantly assist in achieving a Countryside and 

Rights of Way Improvement Plan Objective or Statement of Action. 
 
The Parish Council as applicants for the modification order have appealed 
against the current priority of DMMO 379 being an application to add a footpath 
along a track running to and from PF 107. 
 
Appendix A is a brief case synopsis including the reasons for the appeal. 
 

2. Conclusion 
 
That the Parish Council has made a valid appeal against the current prioritisation 
of the case which requires consideration by this sub-committee. 
 

3. Consultation 

 
a)  Scrutiny Comments 

   

b)  Executive Councillor Comments 

   

c)  Local Member Comments 

   

d)  Policy Proofing Actions Required 

 n/a 
 

Page 8



4. Appendices 

 

These are listed below and attached at the back of the report 

Appendix A Case Synopsis - Claimed footpath along track running to and 
from PF 107 

Appendix B Letter of Appeal by Ludborough Parish Council  

Appendix C ELDC Determination of Application N/107/00464/16 

Appendix D Priority List of Cases 

 
 

5. Background papers 
 

The following background papers as defined in the Local Government Act 1972 were 
relied upon in the writing of this report. 
 

Highways & Traffic Guidance Note 33 – Prioritisation of Definitive Map Modification 
Orders - HAT 33/3/11 

 
This report was written by Chris Miller, who can be contacted on 01522 782070 or 
chris.miller@lincolnshire.gov.uk.

Page 9

http://george/manual.asp?catId=27480


Appendix A – Case Synopsis – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along a track 
running to and from PF 107  

 
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, Section 53 
Definitive Map Modification Order 
 
LUDBOROUGH – CLAIMED FOOTPATH ALONG A TRACK RUNNING TO AND 
FROM PUBLIC FOOTPATH NO. 107 
 

1. Application 
 

A valid application under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981, section 53(5) from 
Ludborough Parish Council has been received by Lincolnshire County Council and 
is dated 18th September 2014. 

 
2. Location Plan of Route 
 

See figs 1, 2 & 3 on pg. 3, 4 & 5 of this Appendix 
 

3. Evidence in support of the application 
 

Accompanying the application for addition of a footpath to the Definitive Map & 
Statement were 9 user evidence testimonies indicating usage over a period 
between the early 1980s and 2014. Of these 4 cover the period of statutory 
dedication (20 years) 
 
Some documentary evidence has been researched by the applicant and submitted 
as part of the prioritisation appeal. This includes an investigation of the 1775 
Enclosure Act, 1887 1" series Ordnance Survey mapping and local history 
 
 

4. Background 
 

Usage of the route seems to have been brought into question in 2010 when 
signage explaining that the route was permissive was erected. This did not provoke 
the current application however as this appears to be connected to the erection of 
further notices indicating that permission was withdrawn. The latter were erected in 
early 2014. 
 

 
5. Current Priority & Original Officer Assessment 
 

Following receipt of the applications officer opinion was that none of the exception 
criteria applied to the application. The case is currently ordered at number 147 of 
151 outstanding cases (as at 27/10/2016) 

 
6. Appeal 
 

An appeal has been received from the wishing to pursue a change of priority 
relying on Criteria 1 & 2 (Appendix B) 
 

Page 10



Appendix A – Case Synopsis – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along a track 
running to and from PF 107  

1) Where there is sustained aggression, hostility and ill feeling within a community 
that is causing severe disruption to the life of that community, and that in 
processing the case early there is a strong likelihood that this will reduce. 
 
2) Where there is a significant threat to the route, likely to cause a permanent 
obstruction (e.g. a building, but not, for example, a locked gate or residential 
fencing). 

 
The appeal outlines that the matter has become a contentious matter in the 
parish but doesn’t specifically state how many parishioners have been affected 
or the frequency of the incidents. 
 
The main concern however is the proposal to construct a solar farm in the area 
bounded by the claimed route. At present there has been an application for a 
Screening Opinion under the Town and Country Planning (Environmental 
Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 and East Lindsey District Council 
determined that an Environmental Impact Assessment was not required 
(Appendix C). 
 
It is unclear from the submitted plans as to the exact parameters of the 
proposed solar farm and it is also unclear as to the affect it may have on the 
claimed right of way. The only plan available on the Planning Portal provides 
the red line boundary of the site itself which although incorporates the claimed 
route, it does not show how it may be affected. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 11



Appendix A – Case Synopsis – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along a track 
running to and from PF 107  

 
 

Fig.1. – Location mapping 
 
 
 

Page 12



Appendix A – Case Synopsis – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along a track 
running to and from PF 107  

 
 
 

Fig. 2. – Extract from 1906 Ordnance Survey 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

. 

Page 13



Appendix A – Case Synopsis – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along a track 
running to and from PF 107  

 
 

Fig 3. – Electronic OS Mapping 
 

7. Site Visit   
 
The Countryside Access Manager, Chris Miller, will provide a verbal report with 
slides at the meeting. 
 
The route generally follows a track through the yard of adjacent farm estate 
northward to the publicly maintainable highway in the hamlet itself. 

Page 14



Appendix B – Letter of Appeal 
 

Mr C Miller       Mrs P Newham ( Clerk ) 

Environmental Services       

Unit 7, Witham Park House,      

Waterside South, Lincoln, LN5 7JN    Ludborough 

        Lincolnshire,  

Your ref: CM/RM      

17th October 2016 

 

Dear Mr Miller 

LUDBOROUGH – DMMO APPLICATION No 378 – APPEAL AGAINST PRIORITY 

Please accept my apologies for the late reply but unfortunately the Chair of Ludborough Parish 

Council has been away on holiday. 

Apart from the information already supplied to you concerning both its use within living memory 

and its roots in the map prepared for the enclosure of the village in 1784/5 our main concern is as 

your Guidance  Note item 3.2.2 ‘Where there is a significant threat to the route’.  This threat we 

believe to be the installation of a large solar energy farm at the North end of the route which we 

understand has been given the go ahead.  This could also affect the habitat of wild orchids that 

grow on the North side and the western end of the track which runs East to West. 

 We are not sure if the following information can be classed under item 3.2.1 but it is again causing 

concern for a number of residents.  Firstly, it has come to the Parish Councils attention that some 

of our more intrepid residents have continued to use all and in one instance part of the footpath In 

question.  The PC have also been informed that a group of cyclists have frequently used the route 

and we understand from them that the owner of the land has not only told them to ‘get off his 

land’ but has intimidated them by driving his vehicle close to them whilst riding.  On one occasion 

coming close to outright aggression. 

We assume that you still have the ten statements of use which we sent to your department in 

early summer of 2014.  Also all other information.  However, should you need copies of any of the 

information we have sent to you so far, please let me know, my email address is at the top of this 

letter. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

 

Pauline Newham 

Clerk to Ludborough Parish Council 

 

Page 15



Appendix C – East Lindsey Determination of Application N/107/00464/16 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 16



Appendix C – East Lindsey Determination of Application N/107/00464/16 
 

Page 17



Appendix D – Priority List of Cases 
 

 

P
age 18



Appendix D – Priority List of Cases 
 

 
 

P
age 19



Appendix D – Priority List of Cases 
 

 
 

P
age 20



Appendix D – Priority List of Cases 
 

 

 

P
age 21



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Written Statement submitted by Councillor  Tony Bridges, Louth Rural North 
Electoral Division in connection with DMMO No. 378 (Ludborough) 

However, I do believe the Parish Council are right in this matter and I also believe 
that the Solar Farm WILL have a significant impact and effect on the landscape of 
the area and its environs. The area is in the Lincolnshire Wolds, as signposted on 
the A16, (which as we all know is an area of outstanding natural beauty)  and having 
done some investigative work, there are no other solar farms in England to my 
knowledge, that have been given planning permission within an area of outstanding 
natural beauty. If this application were to be given planning permission, I am sure 
BBC Look North and the wider BBC News will report on this matter. Indeed, as I am 
in the media industry, I shall make sure the BBC know about this application and that 
the local planning authority have recommended approval.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting of the Definitive Map and Statement of Pubiic Rights of Way Sub Committee held on 4 July 2016
	4 Appeal against the prioritisation of Definitive Map Modification Order No. 378 – Ludborough – Claimed footpath along track running to and from Public Footpath 107
	Written Statement submitted by Councillor Tony Bridges


